1992

Jack W. Pickett and Servus Drug Co. v. Utah Department of Commerce: Brief of Petitioners

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction over final orders and decrees resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings of state agencies as provided by Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2) (Supp. 1992). Judicial review of formal adjudicative proceedings is also set forth in the Administrative Procedures Act, Utah Code Annotated § 63-46b-16 (1988) vesting jurisdiction for review in the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. The order is not justified by the findings of fact in

that revocation of petitioner's license to dispense controlled substances is tantamount to depriving him of his lifetime profession for dispensing therapeutic doses of drugs to one, long time customer who was entitled to the drugs by physicians' diagnosis and oral approval of refills. The order is thus arbitrary and capricious particularly when compared to penalties imposed in other cases involving licensed pharmacists. Under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(h)(iii) (Supp. 1991), the appellate court must grant relief if the agency action is contrary to the agency's prior practice, and substantially prejudices the party seeking judicial review, unless the agency demonstrates a fair and rational basis for the inconsistency.

2. The Director was present at the proceedings and participated in the examination of the petitioner. Thus, the Director was an advocate, not a tribunal, and Petitioner was deprived of due process of law. Constitutional questions are characterized as questions of law to which a correction-of-error standard of review applies giving no deference to the agency's decision. See Questar Pipeline Co. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n., 817 P.2d 316, 318 (Utah 1991).

3. The findings were not signed by the presiding officer, who was the ALJ designated to conduct the proceeding, as required by Utah Code Annotated § 63-46b-10(1) (1988). The Director, who was neither the presiding officer nor the agency head, signed the Order adopting the findings. This is a question of law to which a correction-of-error standard applies. See Morton Intern. Inc.

v. Auditing Div., 814 P.2d 581 (Utah 1991).

4. No concurrence of the State Board of Pharmacy was obtained as required by Utah Code Annotated § 58-1-16 (1988), although two members of the Board appeared to submit the findings, conclusions and recommended order. This is a question of law to which a correction-of-error standard applies. See Morton, 814 P.2d at 585.

STATUTES

The following Utah Code Annotated statutes are relevant to the consideration of this appeal.

58-1-16 Notice of disciplinary action -- Hearing officers
-- Director's powers -- Evidence.

(1) (a) Before suspending, revoking, placing on probation, or refusing to renew a license, and before issuing a cease and desist order, the division shall comply with the procedures and requirements of Title 63, Chapter 46b, Administrative Procedures Act; however, before proceeding under the provisions of Section 63-46b-20, providing for emergency adjudicative proceedings, the division shall review the proposed action with a committee of licensees appointed by the licensing board established under this title for the profession of the person against whom the action is proposed.

(b) By complying with the procedures and requirements of Title 63, Chapter 46b, the director may hold or cause to be held administrative hearings regarding any other matter affecting the division or the activities of any person authorized to practice his occupation or profession under this title.

(2) (a) All adjudicative proceedings shall be held before an appropriate presiding officer, as designated by the director.

(b) The presiding officer shall make written recommendations for action, findings of fact, and conclusions of law.

(c) The director, with the concurrence of the appropriate board, may issue a written order based on the recommendations but is not bound to follow the recommendations of the presiding officer.

(d) If the director does not issue an order within ten days after the presiding officer has made the recommendations, the recommendations of the presiding officer shall become the order.

(3) (a) The director or his designee may administer oaths, issue subpoenas, and compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of papers, books, accounts, documents, and evidence.

(b) Any party to any action permitted under this section may issue subpoenas and compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of papers, books, accounts, documents, and evidence.

63-46b-2. Definitions.

(1) As used in this chapter:

(c) "Agency head" means an individual or body of individuals in whom the ultimate legal authority of the agency is vested by statute.

(h) (i) "Presiding officer" means an agency head, or an individual or body of individuals designated by the agency head, by the agency's rules, or by statute to conduct an adjudicative proceeding.

(ii) If fairness to the parties is not compromised, an agency may substitute one presiding officer for another during any proceeding.

(iii) A person who acts as a presiding officer at one phase of a proceeding need not continue as presiding officer through all phases of a proceeding.

63-46b-10(1)

In formal adjudicative proceedings:

(1) Within a reasonable time after the hearing, or after the filing of any post-hearing papers permitted by the presiding officer, or within the time required by any applicable statute or rule of the agency, the

presiding officer shall sign and issue an order that includes:

(a) a statement of the presiding officer's findings of fact based exclusively on the evidence of record in the adjudicative proceedings or on facts officially noted;

(b) a statement of the presiding officer's conclusions of law;

(c) a statement of the reasons for the presiding officer's decision;

(d) a statement of any relief ordered by the agency;

(e) a notice of the right to apply for reconsideration;

(f) a notice of any right to administrative or judicial review of the order available to aggrieved parties;

13-1-12. Order by hearing officer or body -- Appeals of order to the division director or the executive director.

(1) (a) At the close of an adjudicative proceeding, the administrative law judge or an occupational board or representative committee with assistance from the administrative law judge, shall issue an order.

(b) The order may be appealed to the executive director or the division director for review.

(2) If a division director is unable for any reason to fairly review or rule upon an order of the administrative law judge or a board or committee, the executive director shall review and rule upon the order.

63-46b-16. Judicial review - Formal adjudicative Proceedings.

(4) The appellate court shall grant relief only if, on the basis of the agency's record, it determines that a person seeking judicial review has been substantially prejudiced by any of the following:

(e) the agency has engaged in an unlawful procedure or decision-making process, or has failed to

follow prescribed procedure;

- (h) the agency action is:
 - (iii) contrary to the agency's prior practice, unless the agency justifies the inconsistency by giving facts and reasons that demonstrate a fair and rational basis for the inconsistency; or
 - (iv) otherwise arbitrary or capricious.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Division of Occupational & Professional Licensing of the Department of Commerce commenced proceedings against the Petitioner, Pickett, by "Notice of Agency Action" to impose "appropriate sanctions" against Pickett for alleged violations of the licensing act and statutes related to dispensing controlled substances. After a hearing before an Administrative Law Judge, the division issued orders revoking Pickett's license to dispense controlled substances and requiring Servus Drug Co. to employ another pharmacist to deal with controlled substances. Pickett appealed the order to the Executive Director, who affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A "Notice of Agency Action" was served upon Pickett notifying him that he was entitled to a hearing and that "The presiding officer at the hearing will be J. Steven Eklund, Administrative Law Judge, Department of Commerce." (R 67). Present at the hearing on May 26, 1992, were the ALJ and two members of the State Board of Pharmacy. Three remaining members of the Board were absent. David E. Robinson, the Director of the

Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing was present.
(R 35).

The Board's unsigned Findings of Fact are as follows (R 36-37):

1. Respondent Jack W. Pickett (Hereinafter, Respondent) is, and at all times relevant to this proceeding has been, licensed to practice as a pharmacist and to dispense controlled substances in the State of Utah. Respondent has been a licensed pharmacist since approximately 1954. Respondent Servus Drug Co. (hereinafter, Servus Drug Co.) is, and at all times relevant to this proceeding has been, licensed as a pharmacy and a dispensary for controlled substances in the State of Utah. This record does not reflect the exact date those licenses were issued. Respondent is employed by Servus Drug Co., a business which is owned by Respondent's wife.

2. On twelve occasions between May 20, 1991 and July 30, 1991, Respondent dispensed various dosages of either Tranxene, a Schedule IV controlled substance, [or] Esgic, a Schedule III controlled substance, without a physician's authorization to do so. On occasions, Respondent dispensed medications in either unlabeled prescription vials or a paper bag bearing no labels or instructions.

3. There is a lack of sufficient evidence Respondent made false or forged prescriptions as to dispense the above-stated controlled substances or other medications. Further, there is a lack of sufficient evidence to conclude Respondent knew Mr. Schriver was drug dependent. Respondent acknowledges his prescriptive practices were improper and he failed to adequately document the controlled substances or other medications which he dispensed. Respondent often dispensed those controlled substances or other medications in the manner requested by Mr. Schriver, who often suggested the use of either unlabeled vials or other inappropriate containers.

4. There is no substantial evidence Respondent has improperly dispensed controlled substances or other medications to other individuals. Respondent asserts he has taken remedial measures to address the acknowledged deficiencies in his practices now under review. However, there is a lack of substantial evidence as the specific nature of corrective measures

Respondent may have undertaken in that regard.

Pickett testified at the hearing responding to questions of his counsel; cross examination by Ms. Welch, respondent's counsel; answered questions of a Board Member; the ALJ; and then the Director of the Division, Mr. Robinson aggressively interrogated Pickett (Tr 2). Since petitioners challenge the propriety of the participation by the Director, we copy herein the questions and answer resulting from examination by the Director (Tr 20-33):

THE COURT: Mr. Robinson?

E X A M I N A T I O N

BY MR. ROBINSON:

Q. Mr. Pickett, my name is David Robinson. I'm the director of the Division. I'm not a pharmacist, so my questions come from not being a pharmacist.

MR. ROBINSON: Does he have a copy of this document (indicating)?

MS. WELCH: That's correct.

Q. (By Mr. Robinson) Look at this document, the stipulation. I'd like to ask you some questions about it.

A. Okay.

Q. On the bottom of Page 1 it says, on or about May 20th, 1991, you dispensed 30 doses of Tranxene, a Schedule 4 substance, to Todd Schryver. Was there a prescription for that drug?

A. Originally there was.

Q. What was that original prescription?

A. I would have to go back on my records.

Q. What's your recollection?

A. I would say within six months.

Q. On May the 25th -- on Page 2, it says, on May the 25th, 1991, he came in again for Tranxene and you forged a prescription.

A. No. That was -- that's a case of updating. In other words -- I don't see the reason they put forging there, it's because I didn't have prior approval.

Q. Was there -- did you create a document?

A. Well, what you have to do is that after the prescription has been filled for certain length of time

or a number of times, you got to update your record.

Q. How did you update the record? What did you do?

A. What you do is --

Q. Are we talking about a computer record or are we talking about a paper record?

A. Written record.

Q. So what did you do to create a record to support this? Did you fill out a prescription for him?

A. Uh-huh (affirmative).

Q. And you signed the doctor's name to it?

A. Just the same as if it had been phoned in.

Q. And you did not talk with the doctor?

A. No, not until afterwards. That's my problem. These were okayed afterwards.

Q. What is Tranxene for, what kind of drug?

A. He was using it for anxiety. That's the mildest form of it.

Q. And what was his diagnosis?

A. That was what it was diagnosed for, was anxiety.

Q. Did you see the medical record?

A. No. But that's what he told me.

Q. He told you that?

A. Uh-huh (affirmative).

Q. The physician didn't tell you?

A. No.

Q. He told you?

A. He told me that.

Q. Do you always rely upon what your patients tell you?

A. You just about have to.

Q. On June the 14th, 1991 -- well, let me ask you a question. On May the 20th you gave him 30 doses of Tranxene. Do you remember what he was -- what his dosage was, how much?

A. Three times a day.

Q. Three times a day. Five days later when he should have taken 15 doses you gave him 30 more?

A. I think that was when he wanted to go to Bear Lake. I think that was the time. I think that's the only time.

Q. How long was he going to go to Bear Lake?

A. He was going to be gone a week.

Q. He already had a five-day supply unused, didn't he?

A. Yeah. But that's less than a week.

Q. On June the 14th, 1991, you gave him 30 doses of Esgic without a physician's order to do so. Why was that? I mean, you had no prescription for Esgic. What was his diagnosis?

A. Again, he had had a prescription.

Q. How long?

A. Probably on that one probably for -- oh, maybe two years previously he had.

Q. Two years previously to that he had had a prescription?

A. He'd seen the doctor in the meantime, and each time --

Q. How do you know? Did he tell you?

A. No. When we're working quite closely with the doctors, we pretty well know when they go in. He went for anxiety in the meantime, so he had to see him then.

Q. What's Esgic for?

A. It's just for pain.

Q. And what was the pain caused by?

A. He complained of backache.

Q. Complained of backache?

A. Un-huh (affirmative).

Q. And you gave him 30 doses on June 14th. What was his -- how much was he to take each day?

A. Three times a day.

Q. Three times a day. And yet he didn't fill that again until July 5th for 30 doses. He would have used those 30 doses of Esgic in ten days. So on June the 24th he would have been without Esgic, right?

A. If he were using it properly.

Q. If he were using the prescribed doses; is that right?

A. Uh-huh (affirmative).

Q. June the 24th. And yet he didn't come back to you for 11 days later. Tell me, Mr. Pickett, does that suggest to you that he may have been getting his drugs some other place.

A. No, not at all.

Q. Did you ever think about that?

A. No, because people do that all the time.

Q. Was it possible that he was getting drugs from another source?

A. Things are always possible, but not --

Q. Do you know for sure he was not?

A. No. I know for sure, as far as my knowledge is concerned, he was not.

Q. Mr. Pickett, when you look at this pattern of you supplying him drugs and you look at the daily doses he was to be taking, do you see a discrepancy here, showing that either he went too long or he went too short?

A. No, because we run into that all the time especially on paid medication.

Q. If you look at this pattern and you calculate the number of doses he was to take of the drug and you look at the frequency with which he filled them, have you noticed the fact that they don't necessarily follow

a pattern, sometimes they're longer and sometimes they're shorter, have you noticed that?

A. Yes. But people with pain medication or backache do that. In other words, they don't use it every day. When they need it, they use it. When they don't, they don't.

Q. On July 15th he comes to you and gets 30 doses of Soma. What's Soma for?

A. That's a muscle relaxant for the back.

Q. That's a relaxant?

A. Uh-huh (affirmative).

Q. And that again was without a physician's order?

A. That was the same type of situation originally.

Q. Two years?

A. Originally they had prescribed a hundred at a time.

Q. How long ago?

A. Well, they gave him that before they gave him the Esgic.

Q. So it was more than two years?

A. Well, originally it could have been more than two years.

Q. How old is Mr. Schryver?

A. Oh, 30, 35 -- about 30, 35, somewhere in that vicinity.

Q. Does he work?

A. Uh-huh (affirmative). He's working.

Q. Was this paid for by insurance or by him, personally?

A. No, by him personally. In fact, most the time it was charged.

Q. Mr. Pickett, when Ms. Welch asked you the question -- she asked you the question, what was the risk? Do you remember your answer to that? What was the risk of dispensing these drugs without a prescription? Do you remember your answer?

A. Always the possibility of someone running into problems.

Q. That wasn't your first answer. What was your first response?

A. No, I don't remember it.

Q. Your first response was not to the patient's welfare at all, your response was that -- you said that the doctor will say no. That was your first view of the risk, that the doctor would say no and you'd be hung out to dry. Not of the patient's welfare, that was not the first thought that came to your mind. Is that curious?

A. You're always taught to take care of Number One.

Q. You first?

A. Who's Number One?

Q. When Ms. Welch asked you the question about your continuing education, you indicated that you had made no attempts to remain current with continuing professional education, and then you said, quote, they, referring to the pharmacy association and the state, they haven't done a good job in keeping us up to date.

A. On state law, that's true.

Q. Is that our responsibility to keep you advised of the law?

A. No, it isn't your responsibility.

Q. Whose is it?

A. The think is, when --

Q. Whose is it?

A. When the legislature meets, it's impossible to keep track of the changes that occur, and they should advise you of the changes, the pharmacy board should, or the state board of pharmacy should, advise you of those changes. There's no education system within the state or within the pharmacy that keeps you up to date on that.

Q. What's your responsibility to go to -- how long since you've been to State Pharmacy Association meeting?

A. Quite some time.

Q. Are you aware of any education classes they conduct at those meetings?

A. Uh-huh (affirmative). Yeah.

Q. Would that be a good place to become informed?

A. Probably. Probably.

Q. Did you feel any need to do that?

A. Well, when you're working the store alone and with no relief help, it's about impossible to attend meetings.

Q. When we began this, you talked about your -- you did this to service your customer. How long have you been at Servus Drug?

A. Close to 20 years.

Q. Twenty years ago at Servus Drug were you one of the primary prescription fillers in the city of Bountiful?

A. Not quite, not quite. There were quite a -- there were a number.

Q. That's changed dramatically over the years with the introduction of Smith's, Albertson's, and Shopko.

A. Oh, sure.

Q. And that's had an impact on your business.

A. Sure.

Q. How much has the fact that these chains have come in and those large stores comes in and impact your

business, how much did that play in your decision to try to give these products to Mr. Schryver without the necessary protections, simply because you were competing and you were feeling the competition?

A. I don't think that was a problem. I never considered it that way. I've always considered right from the start to be as much a service as we can to our customers.

Q. Even if it means violating the law?

A. We haven't. The law enforcement has varied.

Q. Well, Mr. Pickett, you were charged with a felony, weren't you?

A. Yes. But that was mainly --

Q. And you plead guilty to a felony -- or no contest?

A. I didn't plead guilty, that's no contest.

Q. Is that different than a plea of guilty?

MR. FADEL: May I intervene? The diversion agreement is not a conviction, it's an agreement that they would set aside the information and the indictment if he met the conditions of the diversion agreement. So it's true he was charged with a felony, he made no plea to it, and it's not considered a conviction. I'll just read briefly from the statute that says that diversion is not a conviction. And if the case is dismissed, the matter should be treated as if the charge had never been filed.

MS. WELCH: And that was the penal code section 772-2 on subsequent 772-8.

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