1992

Jack W. Pickett and Servus Drug Co. v. Utah Department of Commerce, Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE DIVISION AND BOARD IMPOSED A REASONABLE SANCTION AGAINST PICKETT'S LICENSES.

The decision of the Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing ("Division") revoking Pickett's license to dispense controlled substances and placing his pharmacist's license on three years probation was reasonable and well within the discretion vested in the Division and the Pharmacy Board. The order was not unreasonable in lieu of the Board's past treatment of professional misconduct by pharmacists and is not subject to the obscure limitations of stare decisis. Pickett's conduct involved numerous serious violations of the controlled substances act as well as the statutes and rules that govern the pharmacist profession. The court should not disturb the sanction imposed by the Division unless it finds that the Division abused its discretion and imposed an unreasonable sanction.

II. THE DIVISION FOLLOWED THE PROPER PROCEDURES FOR FORMAL ADJUDICATIVE PROCEEDINGS.

Pickett alleges that the Division violated its own statutory procedures by allowing the participation of the Division Director as a presiding officer and by failing to obtain the signatures of the ALJ and Board on the findings of fact, conclusions of law and order. Pickett also alleges that the Division failed to obtain the necessary concurrence from the Board before issuing its order.

Pickett's arguments should fail for two reasons. First, Pickett was given adequate notice concerning the manner in which the hearing would be conducted. (R./61, 67) However, Pickett did not raise any objection prior to, or during the hearing. Pickett's failure to preserve this issue on appeal prevent him from obtaining any relief based on alleged procedural errors.

Second, Pickett's procedural challenges to the involvement of the Division Director as a presiding officer is ignorant of the fact that the section 58-1-16 as well as sections 58-17-9 and -11 vest authority in the Division and its Director to take appropriate disciplinary action in concurrence with the Pharmacy Board. Utah Code Ann. §§ (1990 and Supp. 1992). The Division Director is an agency head as contemplated by the Utah Administrative Procedures Act and may substitute one presiding officer for another at different phases of a proceeding.

Moreover, Pickett has failed to demonstrate how he was prejudiced in any manner by the Division's failure to follow the correct statutory procedures.

III. THE DIVISION DIRECTOR DID NOT DEPRIVE PICKETT OF A FAIR HEARING.

Pointed and direct questions asked by the Director, David E. Robinson, at the hearing does not constitute a violation of due process. Given the minimal detail surrounding the events that led up to the bringing of disciplinary proceedings against Pickett's licenses, the Director was entitled to ask questions and probe into matters that were not adequately addressed during direct and cross-examination by respective counsel. The Director's questions did not rise to a level of due process violation. Moreover, no objection was raised by Pickett, who was represented by counsel, to any of the questions posed by the Director. Consequently, Pickett has waived the right to raise this as an issue on appeal.

IV. THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WAS NOT BIASED AGAINST PICKETT

Pickett has raised insufficient grounds to even cast an inference of bias on the part of the Executive Director of the Department of Commerce. There can be no inference of bias by virtue of the fact that David Robinson was appointed by the last Executive Director of the Department of Commerce (and approved by the Governor). The Executive Director conducted agency review in

accordance with the Utah Administrative Procedures Act. No rehearing was required and no oral argument was taken because none was requested. (R./1)

V. PICKETT WAIVED THE REQUIREMENT OF A QUORUM

Pickett urges that he waived the requirement of a quorum so that the hearing could be conducted but intended for there to be a quorum of the board to deliberate on his case. (Brief at 17) Other than Pickett's bald assertion there is not support for his contention in the record. His intent that a complete quorum deliberate on his case was not expressed to the Division nor is it reflected in the record. Consequently, Pickett has not marshalled the evidence to support his argument on this issue on appeal.

ARGUMENT

1. THE DIVISION'S ORDER REVOKING PICKETT'S CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE LICENSE AND PLACING HIS PHARMACIST'S LICENSE ON PROBATION WAS REASONABLE AND WITHIN THE DIVISION'S DISCRETION.

Pickett does not dispute the Division's factual findings, nor has he ever denied that the conduct he engaged in was violative of the statutory and regulatory standards governing the dispensing of controlled substances or the licensure of pharmacists. (Brief at 7-8, 20) However, Pickett urges on appeal that the sanction imposed by the Division is not justified in light of the Pharmacy Board's findings of fact and prior

decisions of the Pharmacy Board in prior cases.² Before addressing this issue on the merits, it is necessary to determine which standard of review the court will apply in reviewing the sanction imposed by the Division and the Board.

A. ABUSE OF DISCRETION STANDARD OF REVIEW SHOULD APPLY TO DIVISION'S IMPOSITION OF A SANCTION.

In reviewing Pickett's appeal on this issue, the Court of Appeals should review the Division's order under the abuse of discretion standard of review. See, Johnson-Bowles v. Division of Securities, 829 P.2d 101, 115, (1992)(Applying Morton ³ standard of review analysis.) In Johnson, the court reviewed a statute granting the Division of Securities the power to impose sanctions and concluded that the Division possessed broad discretionary authority to impose disciplinary action against registered brokers or agents of the Division.⁴ Id. at 116.

². No adverse findings or sanction was imposed against appellant, Servus Drug Co. It is unclear why the company is appealing other than for reasons that the sanction imposed against Pickett bears some negative consequences for the company.

³. Morton International, Inc. v. Utah Tax Comm'n, 814 P.2d 581 (Utah 1991). Sparing a detailed standard of review analysis, Morton provides a comprehensive analysis of cases addressing the standards of appellate review from administrative agency decisions.

⁴. The statute granting sanction powers to the Division of Securities provides in pertinent part:

Upon approval by the executive director and a majority of the Securities Advisory Board, the executive director may issue and order

Based on the broad range of disciplinary options available to the Division, the court concluded that the type of sanction and the "reasonableness" of the sanction "is a matter of agency discretion" which would not be disturbed unless "clearly unreasonable or otherwise an abuse of discretion." Id.

The Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing, like the Division of Securities, is a subdivision of the Department of Commerce and likewise has been given a broad range of regulatory powers including the express authority to impose discipline against licensee's who violate the applicable statutes and rules of the profession. First, in a more general delegation, section 58-1-15 provides that the Division "may refuse to issue or renew, and may suspend, revoke, or place on probation the license of any licensee who: (1) is or has been guilty of unprofessional conduct, as defined by statute or rule . . ." Utah Code Ann. § (1992 Cum Supp.).

Similar provisions, but more specifically tailored to pharmacy profession, are two provisions which require the Division to act in collaboration with the Pharmacy Board when

denying, suspending or revoking any agent, broker-dealer, or investment adviser registration if he finds that the order is in the public interest . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-6(1)(1989).

imposing sanctions against licensed pharmacists. Section 58-17-9 provides that the Division, in collaboration with the Board, may refuse to issue or renew, or may suspend, revoke, or restrict the license of any person, upon one or more of grounds (which are both numerous and lengthy) stated in that provision. Utah Code Ann. § 58-17-9 (1992 Supp.) In addition, there is section 58-17-11 which provides that:

(1) Upon finding grounds for discipline of any person holding a license, seeking a license, or a renewal license under this chapter, the division, in collaboration with the board, may impose one or more of the following penalties:

(a) suspending the offender's license for a term to be determined by the board;

(b) revoking the offender's license;

(c) restricting the offender's license to prohibit the offender from performing certain acts or from engaging in the practice of pharmacy in a particular manner for a term to be determined by the division, in collaboration with the board;

(d) refusing to renew the offender's license;

(e) placing of the offender on probation and supervision for a period to be determined by the division in collaboration with the board.

Utah Code Ann. § (1990)

Given the broad grant of authority to the Division and Board to impose sanctions for violations of its statutes, the court should defer to the Division's discretion and not disturb the Division's order unless it found to be a clear abuse of its

discretion. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(h)(i)(1989).

**B. THE SANCTION IMPOSED BY THE BOARD AND DIVISION WAS
NOT AN ABUSE THEIR DISCRETION**

Besides finding numerous violations of the statutes and rules applicable to professional pharmacists (which are uncontroverted), the Pharmacy Board and the Division concluded that Pickett was "grossly negligent in his practice of pharmacy." (R./40) The Board also characterized Pickett's "misconduct" as a "egregious departure from those standards which govern his profession." (R./41)

Specifically, the Board found that Pickett dispensed prescription drugs on twelve separate occasions "without any practitioner's authorization to do so." (R./40) The Board also found that "[u]nder the circumstances, [Pickett] should have known Mr. Schriver was attempting to obtain drugs by either fraud or misrepresentation." (R./40)

Pickett also improperly dispensed medications by placing controlled substances in an unlabeled vial or paper bag. (R./1)(Trans. at 7, 17-18) Pickett also failed to properly label the medication indicating what kind of medicine it was and the instructions for administering the correct dosage. (R./1)(Trans at 7, 18).

Pickett's conduct resulted in the bringing of a criminal charge which was resolved by Pickett's plea of no contest to a

charge of Illegal Dispensing of a Controlled Substance, a third degree felony.(R./56)(Trans at 13, 14, 30, 31) The conviction was resolved by a diversion agreement between Pickett and the Second District Court in Davis County. While the conviction did not serve as the basis of the Division's disciplinary action it does serve to illustrate the serious nature of Pickett's misconduct.

The action taken by the Board and Division was reasonable due to the serious nature of Pickett's misconduct and was imposed in order to protect the public health and safety. The Board and Division manifested their intent to protect the public while monitoring Pickett's future conduct and to "prompt necessary corrective and remedial action." (R./41)

Pickett asserts that the revocation of his license to dispense controlled substances is "tantamount to depriving him of his lifetime profession" (Brief at 2). However, a review of the Division's order reflects an intent to protect the public while monitoring and promoting rehabilitative efforts on the part of Pickett. First, no action was taken against the license of Servus Drug Co. which is owned by Pickett's spouse.(R./36) Moreover, Pickett's pharmacist license was placed on three years probation. Consequently, Pickett will be able to maintain viable employment at Servus Drug during the probationary period

and there is nothing to preclude Servus Drug from dispensing controlled substances so long as Servus Drug employs someone with a valid Utah controlled substance license to issue such prescriptions.

The order also reflects an intent to monitor Pickett's practices and encourage rehabilitative efforts on his own behalf. The order requires to Pickett to submit a practice plan requiring Servus Drug to employ a pharmacist to "establish proper record keeping, inventory control and dispensary procedures for controlled substances at the pharmacy." (R./42) Pickett is also required to meet with the Board every month for three months and then every six months thereafter until his probation is complete. (R./42) The purpose of the meetings is to allow the Board to review and adequately monitor the terms of the probation and assure that proper procedures are being implemented at Servus Drug. The Division will also perform period audits of the controlled substance records. (R./42) Finally, Pickett will be required to take the jurisprudence examination to assure that he is aware of the laws and rules governing the practice of pharmacy.

The order issued by the Division and Board is an excellent example of effective governmental regulation. Rather than merely sanctioning Pickett and leaving him to go his own way. The

Division and Board is assuming an active role in the monitoring and rehabilitation of Pickett's practices. It is difficult to imagine a more effective way to assure the public protection while preserving Pickett's property interest in his license to practice as a pharmacist. It is worthy to note that the revocation of Pickett's controlled substance license is not the equivalent of a license death penalty. It is possible for a license to be reissued after revocation in the event the Division and the Board is satisfied that the licensee is competent to practice and the public health and safety is no longer under any threat.

C. PRIOR SANCTIONS OF THE PHARMACY BOARD AND DIVISION ARE NOT CONTROLLING

Pickett urges that the order of the Division and Board is out of line with sanctions imposed by the Division and Board in prior cases. (Brief at 20). Pickett cites to ten case that were handled by the Pharmacy Board between 1986-1989. Beyond his own brief summary of the facts and results in those cases, Pickett has not met his burden of showing that the decision of the Board and Division is clearly unreasonable. The current Pharmacy Board is not bound by the disciplinary actions of past boards. Administrative agencies are generally free as a matter of law "of the limitations of stare decisis." Williams v. Public Service Commission, 754 P.2d 41, 52 (Utah 1988); see also, Reaveley v.

Public Service Commission, 436 P.2d 797, 20 Utah 2d 237 (1968);
Almon, Inc., v. Utah Liquor Control Comm'n., 696 P.2d 1210, 1213
(Utah 1985).

Merely because a sanction appears more harsh than imposed in other cases does not render the sanction invalid. In Butz v. Glover Livestock Commission Co., 411 U.S. 182, 187, 36 L.Ed.2d 142, 93 S.Ct. 1455 (1973), the Supreme Court confirmed that the employment of a sanction within the authority of an administrative agency is not rendered invalid in a particular case because it is more severe than sanctions imposed in other cases.

The order of the Division and the Pharmacy Board was specifically tailored to meet the specific circumstances surrounding Pickett's violations. As specified above, the order is specifically designed to protect the public while allowing Pickett to practice his profession. The order also demonstrates an intent to protect the public and rehabilitate the offender. Like judges in regular courts of law, the Board must be given the discretion to mete out discipline in response to the unique circumstances of the case before it. In the instant case, the Board and Division has struck an appropriate balance to allow Pickett to continue to engage in his profession while providing adequate protection to the public.

2. PICKETT'S FAILURE TO RAISE PROCEDURAL ERRORS AT OR BEFORE THE HEARING CONSTITUTE WAIVER.

The Division's failure to comply with its own statutory procedures is one of the grounds asserted by Pickett to support reversal of the Division's order. (Brief at 16.) Before addressing this issue on the merits, the Division objects to Pickett's failure to properly preserve this issue on appeal. In its Notice of Agency Action of January 28, 1992 (R./67), the Division provided notice to Pickett that he was entitled to a hearing "conducted before the Pharmacy Board." (R./67) The notice also stated,

During the hearing, you will have the opportunity to present evidence, argue, respond, conduct cross-examination and submit rebuttal evidence to the Board. After the hearing the Board will submit findings of fact, conclusions of law and a recommended order to the Director of the Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing for his subsequent review and action.

The same notice also identified the presiding officer as, J. Steven Eklund, Administrative Law Judge. (R./67)

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